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1.0
Introduction

The deserted settlement of Easter Raitts, in Badenoch (NGR NH 7774 0228), is a Medieval or Later Rural Settlement (MoLRS) site which documentary evidence suggests was occupied from the fourteenth to the nineteenth centuries, when it was cleared in 1803.  Excavation over the last four seasons has focused on structures within the settlement.  The 1999 season will continue investigation there and will also look outside the settlement boundaries at a structure and agricultural features on its fringes. 


At least 18 structures make up the settlement, in addition to banks, platforms and scooped features (Dalland and Smith 1995).  The township lies along a fluvio-glacial terrace on the north-west side of Strathspey, and is defined on the south and west by low, tumbled stone dykes.  Most of the structures in the settlement comprise turf-clad stone footings, and excavation of three has shown they were built largely of turf superstructures, perhaps with alternating stone layers in some cases, upon the stone footings.  Several of the structures can be identified as longhouses on the basis of their similarity in size, layout and alignment to the two excavated longhouses (21 and 24; Lelong 1997).  Others, at right angles to these, may be barns, and the largest structure in the township, investigated in 1998, proved to be a five-room, multi-phase byre.  Two scooped features (15 and 26) outside the excavated longhouses, also investigated in 1998 with funding from Historic Scotland, proved to be a clay puddling feature and a small paved outbuilding or enclosure, possibly for midden material, respectively (Lelong 1998).


The work carried out so far has illuminated the nature of domestic occupation within the township, the extent to which shelter was built for animals (and therefore their importance to the people there) and the nature of structures and other features outside the houses.  The 1999 excavations will look beyond the boundaries of the township at the use of space around its perimeter and the evidence for agricultural regimes, focusing on a platform and small structure (5) outside the western boundary wall and upon lynchets and rigs evident in the field to the west of the township.  Excavation of outbuilding 26 and the western part of longhouse 21 will also be concluded this year.

2.0
Archaeological and Historical Background

Easter Raitts is one of three settlements making up a cluster, with Wester and Mid Raitts, along a fluvio-glacial terrace north of the River Spey in Badenoch.  Raitts' origins as a place of local significance date to the thirteenth century, if not earlier.  A chapel is recorded as having stood at Raitts at that time, one of a series of chapels strung along Strathspey and serving individual davochs or groups of davochs (Barrow 1989).  The chapel at Raitts was dedicated to the Celtic saint Molúog, suggesting it pre-dated Norman influence in the area (ibid).  The farm on which the township lies is called Chapelpark Farm, although the origins of this name and the location of any chapel remains are unknown at present.


Archaeological remains in the vicinity also contribute to a picture of Raitts' early importance.  The line of a medieval road runs along the terrace c 250 m south of the township, past a very large souterrain; local tradition connects episodes of robbery on the road to the use of the souterrain and an associated structure in the fifteenth century (Scarlett 1988, 33).  Although souterrains are generally considered to date from the Iron Age, such structures -- particularly ones as large and well-preserved as this -- might well have been used throughout later periods.


Norman influence held sway in this area from the thirteenth century onward, with the Red Comyns constructing a castle at Ruthven, on the natural mound now occupied by Ruthven Barracks and within sight of Raitts.  Control of the area and castle later passed to Alexander, the Wolf of Badenoch, fourth son of Robert II.  He quarrelled with the Bishop of Moray over, among other issues, ownership of the chapel at Raitts; the bishop claimed that he held this and other lands in Badenoch directly from the king.  By 1452 the lands which included Raitts had passed to the Earl of Huntly, of the Gordon family; in the late fifteenth century, the Mackintoshes of Borlum came to hold Raitts in feu from the Gordons (Grant and Cheape 1987, 38).  In 1788 they sold the estate to James Macpherson, the controversial translator of Gaelic (so-called Ossianic) poetry; he carried out improvements on the property, and it was probably his son who removed people from the townships in order to put sheep on the land (MacPherson 1893, 255; Shepherd 1835, 70).


The earliest reference to people living at Raitts is in the form of rentals dating to the 1400s, among the Gordon family papers (SRO).  The settlements seem likely to have developed as three discrete clusters from the late 1500s, if not earlier; Timothy Pont's map of the 1590s, published in Blaeu's atlas of 1654, shows West Rait, Mid Rait and Rait in locations corresponding to their present positions on the north side of Strathspey.  


In the early part of the eighteenth century, the English military established its presence in the strath, constructing Ruthven Barracks after the 1715 uprising and building a military road just below the township, close to the line of the medieval road.  The first and second Statistical Accounts (Anderson 1790; MacDonald 1835) record the effects of the military presence upon local life, as well as the nature of vernacular architecture and agricultural practices.  Details of life in nineteenth century Badenoch have been further illuminated by the work of IF Grant, who collected many local traditions as well as farming and domestic implements (Grant 1924; Grant 1961).


Eighteenth- and nineteenth-century ethnographic sources record houses being locally built of cut turves upon low stone footings (e.g., Burt 1756).  This evidence has been borne out by the result of experimental work, such as that at the Highland Folk Museum in Newtonmore, as well as by the results of excavations at Easter Raitts (Lelong 1997; Lelong 1998).

3.0
Previous Work


The settlement of Easter Raitts was identified in 1995 by John Wood, Senior Archaeologist at Highland Council, and Ross Noble of the Highland Folk Museum, as potentially suitable for excavations with several objectives:  to research through archaeological remains the development of a MoLRS site with good evidence for medieval origins; to provide training as part of the Certificate in Field Archaeology course sponsored jointly by Highland Council and the University of Aberdeen; and to find evidence for use in reconstructing the settlement at the Highland Folk Museum in Newtonmore.  Preliminary survey and excavation confirmed its suitability, and three seasons of excavation have followed.

3.1
Topographic Survey


A topographic survey of the township was carried out in 1995 by Magnar Dalland and Andrea Smith of AOC (Scotland) Ltd (Dalland & Smith 1995).  This highlighted the various possible phases of construction visible in some of the structures, the many building forms present and the relative degrees of preservation evident in different structures.

3.2
Archaeological Evaluation

An archaeological evaluation was conducted the same year by the Centre for Field Archaeology, directed by Kirsty Cameron (Cameron 1995).  Trial trenches in structures 6 and 11 revealed drains and earthen floors, and a small slot trench through the junction between structure 6 and platform 5 established that the structure post-dated the platform.  Finally, a trench across the track which enters the settlement from the west near platform 5 proved that it was metalled, and apparently coeval with the settlement's occupation, as it was respected by the adjacent boundary wall.

3.3
Pilot Excavations (1996)


A pilot season of training excavations was directed in 1996 by Jonathan Wordsworth.  This investigated two of the more substantial structures in the township, 9 and 10.  Although neither was fully excavated, the evidence suggested that structure 9 was a house while structure 10 was a byre or barn, with a drain leading out to the marshy ground to the north. 

3.4
Excavations (1997 and 1998)

More extensive excavations were directed in 1997 and 1998 by Olivia Lelong (Lelong 1997; Lelong 1998).  Excavation of structure 21 over both seasons showed it to be a longhouse, with a main living area and a small byre annexe at one end.  The main part was dominated by a large stone hearth, with paving along two sides; a series of six superimposed earthen floors was recorded south of the hearth -- three coeval with the paving slabs and containing sherds of glazed, mass-produced pottery, and three running beneath the paving and containing no pottery, either modern or low-fired.  A large scoop, with evidence of two episodes of in-situ burning, lay near the hearth and the longhouse's entrance; it was similarly free of mass-produced pottery and had been sealed beneath later paving and earth floors.  The east end of the house contained two rough platforms and a central cobbled walkway, interpreted as a dairy.  Evidence of the building's construction was found in the form of wedges of banded silty loam lying against the stone footings, the remains of turf walls which had been built up against the footings and had been replaced as each one slumped.


Immediately to the south of the longhouse's entrance, a small, scooped feature (26) investigated in 1998 proved to be a structure with a paved interior, its perimeter defined by postholes and a sharply dipping gravel bank suggesting the former existence of a wall around it.  A richly organic deposit found between and below the paving stones may be midden material, dumped here for composting, a process which would have been encouraged by the stone paving.


Longhouse 24A, investigated in 1997, proved to have been re-used after its human occupants had left, probably for sheep.  Its hearth survived, but its entrance had been sealed and its interior scoured.  A cobbled apron led out from the former entrance to another small, scooped structure (15).  Excavated in 1998, this was found to be a deliberate scoop to expose a deposit of natural clay; the base of the scoop had been enclosed with a rough revetment on one side and a low earthen bank on the other.  It appeared that the contents of the scoop had needed to be retained in some way, and given the presence of the clay (with artefacts found on its surface) this was probably water, used to soak and soften the clay so that it could be used for floors and perhaps other purposes.  


Structure 24B was investigated in 1997, and found to be a small, very substantial building with thick stone walls and a paved entrance leading out to a hollowed, cobbled yard (feature 14).  The structure had been built over the end of longhouse 24.  It was interpreted as animal accommodation, most likely -- given its very sturdy walls -- for pigs.


In 1998 the longest structure in the township (6) was also excavated.  It proved to consist of four rooms or structures, with another abutting it to the south.  The rooms had been added over at least four stages.  Each contained drains and cobbled surfaces, indicating its use for animals.  Area 6C may also have been used for some industrial process, with a drain across its interior leading out through the south wall.  The extensive animal accommodation represented by structure 6, with no evidence for human occupation, is unique in excavated Highland post-medieval structures; it seems from this and other evidence that, contrary to received wisdom about Highland townships, in this case all or many of the animals of the township were housed or at least over-wintered together.  The structure may also have included stabling for pack horses travelling the drove road which runs near the township.

4.0
1999 Season


The excavation and survey work carried out thus far at Easter Raitts have contributed to our understanding of this MoLRS site, illuminating the construction and organisation of the houses in which people lived, the ways they used space outside their houses, and the time, resources and effort they invested in housing their animals -- and therefore, by implication, the importance of animals in the life of the township.  


Easter Raitts is important as a site because it is similar to the thousands of MoLRS settlements scattered throughout the Highlands, with a variety of building forms and remains in various states of preservation, suggesting long-term use and development as well as specialised structures for different functions.  The ongoing excavation at Easter Raitts is important for several reasons:  the high-quality training it provides to dedicated amateur archaeologists; the well-recorded archaeological detail it yields, building an understanding of Highland life in the pre-Improvement period and the ways in which that life changed or remained the same over the preceding decades and perhaps centuries; and the information it provides which can guide management of this and the many sites like it.


Many of the pre-Improvement settlements in the Highlands survive only on marginal land or in forestry; most of those in the straths (for example, Strathnaver) have been disturbed or obliterated by post-Improvement alterations to the landscape.  Easter Raitts is unusual in that it lies in pasture, for the most part undisturbed by tree, heather or bracken roots, and the site of the settlement itself has not been significantly improved.  It is, however, being damaged by rabbit-burrowing, as excavation has proven; indeed, Historic Scotland has recently sponsored a rabbit-damage survey along this part of Strathspey because of the extent of the problem locally.


The excavations so far have focused on structures within the township; the 1999 excavations will examine features on its fringes as well as continuing investigation of these structures.  Immediately west of (and therefore outside) the dyke defining the township's western boundary wall, which was shown by the 1995 evaluation to be coeval with the track which winds through the settlement and respects its structures, is a set of features with the potential to provide information valuable for both management and research purposes:  a built platform bearing a faint bank and a small structure, and a series of rigs.


The platform (5), which abuts structure 6 on the west, was proven in the 1995 evaluation to pre-date the structure, and was shown to be a built feature, the terrace edge revetted with large boulders and consolidated with pebbles and soil (Dalland & Smith 1995; Cameron 1995).  It measures 20 m east/west by 7 to 8 m; its north side gives onto the trackway leading into the settlement, but the other sides are well-defined with sharp, revetted breaks of slope.  A faint bank is visible along the east and south of the platform, and two circular hollows have been cut into its southern edge.  The hollows are much better defined than the bank, suggesting they are a later intervention.  A sub-rectangular structure, measuring 4 m by 5 m and comprising walls apparently of slumped turf, with some stone footings visible, sits on the platform’s west end; it also is more substantial than the bank.  It appears much less regular and stony than other buildings in the township (including structure 6), and this suggests it is either older or had a very different function than structures inside the settlement.  The hollows may have been kiln bowls, and the structure an outbuilding connected to their use (although it does not appear to be a kiln barn); however, they may represent completely different phases of use and different functions. 


The 1999 excavations will involve opening a trench over the platform and structure, with an extension northward across the track, to investigate the nature of these features and the chronological and stratigraphic relationships between them.  A baulk will be left across the platform and structure to allow the relationships of different contexts to be recorded in section.  The two circular hollows will also be investigated.  Layers will be excavated and recorded in plan as well as section (where appropriate), and an adequate proportion of each will be sampled in order to establish its artefactual and ecofactual composition.  Contexts will be recorded by drawing, photograph and written record.  The positions of all finds will be recorded in three dimensions.


In the area to the west of the township, rigs c 3 m wide are visible running north-west/south-east down a gentle slope.  Two small trenches, 1.5 m wide, will be excavated across two of these to establish the rig profiles and formation processes.  The sections will be recorded by drawing, photograph and written record, and the positions of all finds will be recorded in three dimensions.  Samples will also be taken from two sections for micromorphological analysis. 


Finally, excavation of outbuilding 26 and the western part of longhouse 21 will be concluded in the first two weeks of the 1999 season.  Structure 26 will be fully excavated and recorded, and its relationship with structure 21 established if possible.  A section of the stone footings defining structure 21 will also be removed in order to obtain evidence for when the house was built.

4.1
Products of the Proposed Fieldwork

i.
Drawings in plan and section at appropriate scales for all deposits 
and structural evidence.

ii.
Data structure report on the excavation results with an 
indication of what, if any, future work is necessary.

iii.
An assessment of the research potential of these features, and 
implications for their future management where they occur at 
MoLRS sites.

iv.
A note in Discovery and Excavation in Scotland about the 
fieldwork, and publication in an appropriate academic journal of 
the results and their implications for the study of MoLRS.

v.
As with the 1997 and 1998 seasons, the data structure reports 
and other information about the project will be made available on 
the Highland Archaeology Service Website, and copies will be 
deposited with the Highland Sites and Monuments Record and 
the National Monuments Record of Scotland.

5.0
Potential for Management and Research of MoLRS Sites


The 1999 work will contribute to the steadily accumulating picture of life in the township, providing information on the nature of structures and the use of space outside the dykes which define the township, as well as the chronological development of the platform and the features upon it.  It will also yield information on the agricultural regimes being practised by the township's inhabitants, and may well produce cultural material re-deposited as midden on the fields which could be linked to different phases of occupation.  


The work will also contribute significant information for use in the management of MoLRS sites.  By examining features around the periphery of the settlement, it will allow a more accurate assessment of the archaeological potential of the fringes of other, similar sites.  This in turn will give archaeological curators valuable information to use in creating, for example, buffer zones around MoLRS sites in forestry.  

6.0
Timescale


The fieldwork will take place in June and July 1999.  The data structure report will be produced by October 1999, and the other fieldwork products will be produced by March 2000.
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